ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAR 09 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

QUANELL MARQUAN MCILWAIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002539

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial judge erred in allowing a witness to testify that appellant confronted him with a pistol fifteen minutes before a shooting that was completely unrelated to the confrontation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 13, 2011, appellant Quanell Marquan McIlwain was indicted by a Lancaster County grand jury for murder and two weapons charges. R. 586 - 594. On November 10, 2014, appellant was tried before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons and a jury. R. 1. Doug Barfield represented the State. R. 1. Brandon Steen and Justin Jones represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant on all three counts. R. 577, ll. 2 – 24. Judge Gibbons sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of five years' imprisonment on the weapons charges and life imprisonment for murder. R. 584, l. 14 – 585, l. 3. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in allowing a witness to testify that appellant confronted him with a pistol fifteen minutes before a shooting that was completely unrelated to the confrontation.

The State never presented a motive for appellant to shoot the decedent Terrence Antonio “Tonio” Jones. In his closing argument, the solicitor said, “And I can’t begin to explain to you why Quanell McIlwain shot Tonio Jones.” R. 536, ll. 23 – 24. The jury recognized as much and sent out its first question: “Was there a relationship between SK [appellant’s alleged nickname] and Antonio Jones ever established? R. 575, ll. 2 – 3. The State’s only eyewitness to the shooting of Jones claimed appellant just opened fire on Jones, with no words or any other altercation. R. 364, l. 19 – 365, l. 3. The State’s witnesses were related to each other, disposed of the gun, disposed of clothes, contradicted each other, but gave evidence that appellant was the shooter. In this case with no motive, the State was allowed to present evidence of an unrelated prior bad act that occurred fifteen minutes before Jones’ death that tended to portray appellant as a violent person.

Factual Background

This shooting occurred at 4:00 AM at the Pardue Street apartments in Lancaster. R. 30, ll. 4 – 13. One of the police officers who first arrived on the scene recognized the decedent, Jones. R. 31, ll. 2 – 15. According to a witness, Jones had left an apartment “to go get some cigarettes.” R. 37, ll. 17 – 18.

In another apartment, Dora Montgomery (“Montgomery”) lived with her sister, Justine Gladden (“Gladden”). R. 123, ll. 19 – 22. They were having “a little kick back” at their apartment attended by approximately ten people the night of the shooting. R.

127, l. 24 – 129, l. 6. Everyone was “gettin drunk.” R. 194, ll. 2 – 3. She did not know everyone at the “kick back.” R. 129, ll. 1 – 2.

Montgomery saw Tanisha Nelson and Edrickis “Qua” Stevens (“Stevens”) arguing shortly before the shooting. R. 135, l. 12 – 137, l. 6. Tanisha Nelson was running from Stevens and he was chasing her. R. 135, l. 12 – 137, l. 6. Montgomery got Tanisha Nelson’s baby and brought the baby to her house. R. 135, l. 12 – 137, l. 6. Tanisha Nelson then got her baby and went back to her house. R. 137, ll. 10 – 22. Montgomery heard the shots “a couple of seconds” after Tanisha Nelson left with the baby. R. 137, l. 21 – 138, l. 3.

According to Gladden, an attendant at the party, Timothy Nelson, was also called “Qua” and “Que Black.” R. 152, ll. 5 - 14. Montgomery said Que Black was sitting on the floor of her apartment playing on his phone when she heard the gunshots. R. 132, ll. 6 – 12. After the shooting (and before the police arrived), she saw Que Black with a silver handgun in his hand. R. 140, l. 2 – 141, l. 11. She told him “to get out.” R. 140, l. 2 – 141, l. 11. Montgomery’s sister then told her they needed to throw away a black shirt and a black hat they found in a closet. R. 142, ll. 2 – 22. She did not remember what appellant was wearing that night. R. 145, ll. 18 – 21.

Montgomery’s sister, Gladden remembered events differently. Gladden testified that the party started at Keith Benson’s apartment and some of those people moved over to her apartment. R. 155, l. 10 – 157, l. 22. Gladden testified that Montgomery never got Tanisha Nelson’s baby. R. 163, l. 19 – 164, l. 15. R. 176, ll. 20 – 24. Keith Benson also testified that Tanisha Nelson never came in the apartment. R. 204, ll. 21 – 24. Tanisha

Nelson showed up wanting to use the phone. R. 178, ll. 8 – 15. She used Montgomery’s cell phone. R. 178, ll. 8 – 15.

After she heard the gunshots, Gladden saw a man wearing a white shirt jump over the fence at the back of the apartments. R. 169, ll. 10 – 19. Timothy Nelson was also “right in front of the fence.” R. 169, ll. 18 – 19. The man in the white shirt tossed a silver and black handgun to Timothy Nelson. R. 170, l. 2 – 171, l. 21. Timothy Nelson brought the gun into Gladden’s house and she told him he had to leave. R. 171, l. 2 – 172.

The next morning when Gladden was cleaning up, she found a black shirt and a black hat in her kitchen closet. R. 172, l. 25 – 173, l. 9. She had earlier seen appellant wearing the black hat and black shirt. R. 173, ll. 10 – 18. Gladden also recalled seeing Keith Benson wearing a black shirt. R. 177, ll. 17 – 20. Montgomery took the clothes and disposed of them. R. 173, l. 21 – 175, l. 22.

Keith Benson testified Timothy Nelson was in the kitchen with him when he heard the gunshots. R. 194, l. 20 – 195, l. 13. Keith Benson said appellant left the Pardue apartments thirty minutes before the shooting. R. 195, ll. 13 – 23. Keith Benson was impeached with a prior statement that he had seen appellant with a “big ass gun,” earlier that day, but explained that all of the males at the party were handling the gun. R. 203, l. 5 – 204, l. 6. R. 207, l. 18 – 208, l. 17. He explained that Pardue Street was a rough neighborhood and people “don’t sit around late at night like that it’s too much going on over there as it is.” R. 207, l. 18 – 208, l. 7. In addition to appellant, Timothy Nelson held the gun, Keith Benson held the gun, and the gun was being passed around by “the dudes cause we all hung together.” R. 208, ll. 4 – 17.

Keith Benson said he saw appellant with a .9 millimeter gun in his car earlier in the evening. R. 199, l. 2 – 200, l. 4. In the statement used to impeach Keith Benson, he claimed the gun he saw being passed around was a “silver chrome brown handle .357 revolver” and was a “big ass gun.” R. 204, ll. 2 – 6. This description conflicted with Dora Montgomery’s description of the handgun she saw in Timothy Nelson’s possession after the shooting as “little,” but matched the colors. R. 141, ll. 2 – 11.

When Keith Benson gave his statement to police describing appellant with the gun and what appellant was wearing, he thought he was going to be charged in relation to the shooting. R. 202, ll. 2 – 18. He said that at the time of the statement, referring to appellant, “Everyone knew that’s who they was supposed to be looking at that point in time---.” R. 210, ll. 4 – 9. In this statement, Keith Benson said appellant was wearing a black shirt, jean shorts, and a black hat. R. 206, ll. 24 – 25.

Timothy Nelson gave a statement to police a week after the shooting because he was afraid the police would accuse him of being the murderer. R. 257, ll. 1 – 16. In this statement, he said appellant (known to him as “SK”) was in the apartment at the time of the shooting. R. 255, l. 13 – 256, l. 7. At trial, he disavowed this portion of his statement and said appellant was not in the apartment when he heard the shots. R. 256, ll. 11 – 18. In the statement he said another person named “Hook” was in the apartment at the time of the shooting. R. 256, ll. 2 – 5. Timothy Nelson did not know Hook’s “government name.” R. 255, ll. 6 – 9. Timothy Nelson admitted that he was called “Qua, Que-Black or Quack.” R. 254, ll. 16 – 17. Keith Benson’s daughter was Timothy Nelson’s “God baby.” R. 254, ll. 20 – 21.

After hearing the shots, Timothy Nelson claimed he first ran to the front yard of the apartment, then through the apartment to the backyard. R. 242, ll. 3 – 14. He saw appellant climbing a fence. R. 242, l. 15 – 243, l. 11. He yelled to appellant, “throw me the junk” meaning the gun. R. 243, ll. 12 – 17. Confusingly, Timothy Nelson said when he yelled for appellant to throw him the gun, he did not even know whether appellant had a gun. R. 243, ll. 18 – 19. Appellant threw him the gun and he caught it in his shirt. R. 244, ll. 2 – 3. Timothy Nelson then took the gun inside the apartment and emptied all six spent shells into a baby diaper and threw it in the trash. R. 246, l. 12 – 248, l. 9. It was a silver .357 with a wooden grip. R. 246, ll. 8 – 11. He then took the gun to his mother’s house, but when his mother found it and told him to get rid of it, he threw the gun in a river. R. 257, ll. 1 – 13. Timothy Nelson led the police to the gun a week later. R. 248, l. 17 – 249, l. 24.

Tanisha Nelson was related to Timothy Nelson. R. 350, ll. 14 – 17. Tanisha Nelson claimed she saw appellant shoot the decedent. R. 364, l. 7 – 365, l. 10. She had an argument with her boyfriend, Stevens. R. 355, ll. 20 – 21. Stevens chased her out of her apartment and she ran to Justine Gladden’s apartment. R. 356, l. 13 – 357, l. 19. Montgomery went to Tanisha Nelson’s apartment and got her baby. R. 358, ll. 13 – 16. Stevens left in Tanisha’s car. R. 358, ll. 20 – 25. At Justine Gladden’s apartment, she saw Timothy Nelson, appellant, and another cousin, Chavis. R. 359, ll. 7 – 21.

Tanisha took her baby and began making her way home. R. 360, ll. 1 – 14. Appellant brought Tanisha a flip phone and told her Stevens wanted to speak with her. R. 361, ll. 9 – 16. She took the phone and appellant walked away. R. 363, ll. 1 – 3. She was talking to Stevens when she saw fire erupt from the barrel of a gun held by appellant.

R. 363, l. 18 – 365, l. 10. She had seen a person she did not recognize walk past her. R. 364, ll. 7 – 25. She did not hear anyone talk or get into a fight before she saw the shooting. R. 364, l. 19 – 365, l. 3. Tanisha saw the man fall then she ran into her house. R. 365, l. 19 – 366, l. 16. Later she gave police the phone. R. 366, ll. 3 – 5. She claimed the shooting happened about ten minutes after Stevens left in her car. R. 367, ll. 16 – 18.

THC was present in the decedent's system. R. 272, ll. 11 – 15. He died from two gunshot wounds: one through the chest and another through the lower abdomen. R. 277, l. 24 – 282, l. 12. The bullet from the chest wound was recovered at the autopsy. R. 279, ll. 3 – 4. The bullet matched the gun Timothy Nelson threw in the river. R. 507, ll. 11 – 18.

The Rule 404 Hearing and Edrickis "Qua" Stevens' Testimony

Before trial, appellant moved to exclude testimony by Stevens as a prior bad act under Rule 404(b). R. 6, l. 17 – 10, l. 2. The State intended to offer Stevens' testimony that before the shooting and during his chase of Tanisha Nelson, he was confronted by appellant with a gun. R. 7, l. 4 – 9, l. 1. Appellant moved under Rule 404(b), Rule 403, State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923), and State v. Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 470 S.E.2d 364 (1996) to exclude evidence of this confrontation. R. 9, ll. 4 – 12. Judge Gibbons said that he would require the State to proffer Stevens' testimony and would rule at that time. R. 9, ll. 15 – 20.

During the trial, the court excused the jury and had the State proffer Stevens' testimony. R. 284, l. 1 – 285, l. 15. Stevens testified that he and Tanisha Nelson had an argument. R. 287, ll. 11 – 15. She ran and Stevens chased her. R. 287, ll. 11 – 17. Stevens stopped chasing Tanisha Nelson when he was confronted by appellant. R. 287, l.

18 – 288, l. 24. According to Stevens, appellant told him that he could not watch him “jump on my baby’s momma cause—you know—he’s saying when he was coming up he seen his momma get jumped on and he say he ain’t liked that kind of stuff.” R. 287, l. 18 – 288, l. 24. Stevens “was like well who’s gonna stop me?” R. 287, l. 18 – 288, l. 24. Appellant said “I stop you now,” pulled out a chrome .357 pistol, and held it by his side. R. 287, l. 18 – 288, l. 24. Appellant did not point the pistol at Stevens. R. 287, l. 18 – 288, l. 24. Stevens then got in Tanisha Nelson’s car and left. R. 288, l. 25 – 289, l. 1.

Appellant argued this testimony should not be admitted because it had no connection to the murder. R. 292, l. 12 – 293, l. 7. Appellant argued that the State was attempting to create a motive where none existed “when these incidents had nothing combined. Different victims, different incidents, different motives. . . .” R. 287, l. 18 – 288, l. 24. The State argued it was offering the evidence to show that appellant was armed with a gun. R. 294, ll. 1 – 7. The following colloquy occurred between defense counsel and the court:

MR. STEEN: But see on the cases that have to do with res gestae, Your Honor, its always the same victim over time. The same victim over time with the same crime. The bad act and the current charge are the same thing. The victim in both situations are the same thing.

THE COURT: Wouldn’t you agree though that your client or the defendant allégedly if the jury were to believe his testimony you know showing this weapon which identification matches the other identification of the weapon, **wouldn’t that show the propensity toward committing this act?**

MR. STEEN: **Yes, Your Honor, which was—which is what 404—**

THE COURT: **Which is why it come in.** I understand that. The question is though of course I’m the gate keeper, I have to do the balancing test.

R. 294, l. 17 – 295, l. 6 (emphasis added) (error in original). The court then ruled the evidence was clear and convincing, logically relevant, and the probative value outweighed its prejudicial impact. R. 295, ll. 7 – 17. The trial judge also ruled that the State was not offering Stevens’ testimony as a prior bad act, but as “just part of the whole situation that was happening that night considering the fact that it only happened fifteen minutes or so or right before the actual act of violence occurred.” R. 295, ll. 18 – 25.

During his testimony before the jury, Stevens claimed to know appellant by the name “SK.” R. 318, ll. 24 – 25. Tanisha Nelson was his “baby momma.” R. 318, ll. 9 – 10. On the night of the shooting, Stevens and Tanisha had an argument at Tanisha’s apartment in the Pardue complex. R. 321, ll. 2 – 9. She ran and Stevens gave chase. R. 322, ll. 3 – 12. Appellant stopped Stevens and asked why he was chasing Tanisha. R. 322, l. 9 – 323, l. 25. Appellant told Stevens he “couldn’t sit out there and let me do my baby momma like that.” R. 323, ll. 19 – 25. Stevens asked who was going to stop him. R. 323, ll. 19 – 25. Appellant pulled out a chrome .357 pistol and said he would stop Stevens. R. 323, l. 19 – 324, l. 10. Stevens replied, “man go ahead with that,” turned around and left. R. 323, ll. 19 – 25. Stevens left in Tanisha’s car. R. 324, ll. 15 – 16.

Inexplicably, Stevens then claimed he called appellant—the man he said just pulled a gun on him—to ask him to put Tanisha on the phone. R. 325, l. 6 – 327, l. 23. Stevens claimed on cross-examination that he did not take being threatened by appellant with a gun too seriously. R. 329, ll. 17 – 20. Appellant answered the phone and gave it to Tanisha. R. 326, ll. 2 – 23. Stevens originally said he talked to Tanisha for 20-30 minutes on appellant’s phone. R. 332, ll. 2 – 4. Stevens claimed to be on the phone with Tanisha when the shooting happened. R. 333, ll. 3 – 5. Defense counsel confronted

Stevens with the records from the phone he called. R. 329, l. 21 – 333, l. 5. Stevens called the phone seven times between 3:41 AM and 3:53 AM and the longest call was 213 seconds. R. 331, l. 7 – 333, l. 1. Even though Stevens claimed that Tanisha was on the phone with him when she witnessed the shooting, he never testified that he heard her make any excited utterance or say anything at all about the shooting while they were on the phone.

Discussion

The trial court erred in admitting Stevens' testimony about the confrontation with the gun. The State's explanation that Stevens' testimony showed appellant with a gun at the time of the shooting was a smokescreen to portray appellant as a violent person in a case where it had no motive. Stevens' testimony was inadmissible under Rules 404 and 403.

The confrontation with Stevens was offered to show appellant had a violent character. "Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion. . . ." Rule 404(a), SCRE. The trial judge erred in agreeing with the State that Stevens' testimony was offered to show appellant was armed prior to the shooting. While Stevens' testimony did have this collateral effect, other witnesses offered the same testimony. Tanisha Nelson claimed she witnessed appellant shoot Jones. Timothy Nelson testified appellant threw him the gun after the shooting and he threw it in the river. Keith Benson testified he saw appellant with the gun. Therefore, the evidentiary value of Stevens' testimony linking appellant to the gun was small while the tendency of the evidence to prove appellant had a violent character was large. The trial judge's initial reason for

admitting the evidence was because it showed appellant had a “propensity” for committing the crime. R. 294, l. 17 – 295, l. 6. Propensity evidence is not admissible. Lyle, 118 S.E. at 808-11; People v. Molineux, 6 Bedell 264, 61 N.E. 286 (N.Y. 1901). See also State v. Conyers, 268 S.C. 276, 233 S.E.2d 95 (1977) (citing Lyle and holding it was error to admit evidence that appellant poisoned her first husband with arsenic when she was on trial for poisoning her current husband with arsenic).

In a case cited in Lyle, Boyd v. United States, 142 U.S. 450 (1892), the United States Supreme Court ruled that some connection between prior similar acts and the charged crime must exist. Boyd was a unanimous decision authored by the first Justice Harlan, who would become the lone dissenter in the infamous case of Plessy v. Ferguson, 163 U.S. 537, 552 (1896). In Boyd, the defendants were charged with a murder arising from the attempted robbery of a ferry. Boyd, 142 U.S. at 451-52. At trial, the government introduced evidence of four other robberies by the defendants. Id. at 454. Identity was an issue in the trial. Id. at 454-55. The defendants were found with the goods from one of the robberies (referred to as the Rigsby’s store robbery), and the government used this evidence to establish identity because several witnesses saw this robbery. Id. at 456. Whether the victims had the right to arrest the defendants for another robbery (referred to as the Taylor robbery) was also a factual question. Id. at 456-57.

Justice Harlan wrote that had the Rigsby store robbery and the Taylor robbery been the only prior bad acts admitted, it was likely “that the judgment would not be disturbed.” Id. at 457-58. Evidence of the other robberies “was inadmissible for the identification of the defendants, or for any other purpose whatever. . . .” Id. at 458.

Writing in compelling fashion concerning the admissibility of these prior crimes, Justice Harlan wrote for the unanimous Court:

Proof of them only tended to prejudice the defendants with the jurors, to draw their minds away from the real issue, **and to produce the impression that they were wretches whose lives were of no value to the community, and who were not entitled to the full benefit of the rules prescribed by law** for the trial of human beings charged with crime involving the punishment of death. Upon careful scrutiny of the record we are constrained to hold that, in at least the particulars to which we have adverted, those rules were not observed at the trial below. **However depraved in character, and however full of crime their past lives may have been, the defendants were entitled to be tried upon competent evidence, and only for the offense charged.**

Id. at 458 (emphasis added). The defendants' convictions were reversed.

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