ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAR 10 2016

---

Appeal from Lancaster County  
Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

QUANELL MARQUAN McILWAIN,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2014-002539

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5758  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
803-734-6305

RANDY E. NEWMAN  
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit  
PO Box 607

## ARGUMENT

- I. When the defense is asserting a issues concerning who possessed the weapon at the time of the shooting and the role of Timothy Nelson who claimed he received the weapon from the Appellant after he shot the victim and hid the weapon, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting relevant and probative *res gestae* evidence that around 15 minutes before the decedent was shot that Petitioner displayed a weapon to Qua Stevens during a verbal confrontation as probative evidence that Appellant and not Nelson possessed the gun at the time of the shooting as part of the *res gestae*.**

The issue before the jury was who possessed the gun at the time that Antonio Jones was shot. Any doubt about the defense theory was that someone other than Quanell McIlwain, particularly Timothy Nelson, possessed the weapon is revealed by defense counsel Steen closing statement:

Mr. Barfield admits he's the one that had possession of the gun. **There has been no reliable evidence during this whole trial that Mr. McIlwain had this gun.** Que Black (Timothy Nelson) admits to having the gun. Numerous witnesses say Que Black had a gun. The only witness that says Mr. McIlwain had a gun, Keith Benson who also said yeah I had it too so did Que Black. So did every other guy out there. It was Pardue on Saturday night we were playing around. That does not make Mr. McIlwain the guilty party here because a bunch of guys are playing with a gun on a Saturday night. (Solicitor Barfield) said Mr. Que Black had nothing to hide so he can't be guilty. He testified that no one saw him clean those bullets out. He did that in secret. Then the ladies came and said they heard the clicking. They actually heard the clicking of him taking out the bullets and that's how they figured out he had the gun. He didn't openly show everybody, he (Timothy Nelson) was keeping it a secret. Who keeps secrets? Who destroys evidence? Guilty people.

R. 548, Tr.p. 617, ll. 12-21 (emphasis added).

The defense's goal at trial was to keep out any evidence that Appellant possessed a weapon and to suggest the actual guilty party was Timothy Nelson who was last seen with the weapon after the shooting. The Appellant attempts to use a smokescreen that it was the state's real purpose to show "propensity" or that Appellant was a violent person when the stated purpose was simply to show that Appellant possessed the gun used in the shooting within 15 minutes before Tonio Jones was shot. The Appellant's red herring argument ignores the

probative value of the challenged evidence by suggesting it was unnecessary for the state to show this close in time possession of the gun by Appellant because there was some evidence of Appellant's possession many hours earlier when it was getting dark (through Keith Benson's testimony) and an eyewitness to the event (Tanisha Nelson). It is additionally unclear what so-called "propensity" Appellant claims that the 15 minute prior confrontation between Appellant and Qua Stevens over Tanisha Nelson was supposed to show other where that confrontation lacked actual violence, compared to the spontaneous shooting of Jones.<sup>1</sup> Rather, the challenged evidence revealing the possession of the weapon within 15 minutes of the shooting was highly probative to the state's case against Appellant. Had this evidence of Appellant's possession of the weapon been suppressed there would have been a probative void in the state's complete story because that last possession of the weapon would have rested with an earlier disclosure of the gun earlier that night when it was getting dark with evidence that not only Appellant, but also Timothy Nelson and others were passing it around through the testimony of Keith Benson. R. 199, 207-08, Tr.p. 268, 276-77.<sup>2</sup> It is particularly probative evidence because after the shooting the gun is seen in the possession of Timothy Nelson by others. Simply put the entirety of the state's case would have rested on Tanisha Nelson's identification of Quanell McIlwain, which Appellant sought to impeach because she is family to Timothy Nelson.<sup>3</sup> The judge reasonably recognized that possession of the weapon by Appellant 15 minutes prior to the shooting (rather than hours before) was highly probative and proper *res gestae*. As the State consistently argued, it was not seeking to introduce the evidence to show propensity or under Rule 404 (b), but to

---

<sup>1</sup> In the Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 13, Appellant contends the showing of the gun evidence to Stevens was introduced by the state solely to show that Appellant "was a violent person in a case where there is no motive."

<sup>2</sup> Respondent notes that Justine Gladden testified that after the shooting she saw someone in a white shirt toss a gun near a fence to Timothy Nelson. R. 170-71, Tr.p. 239-240.

<sup>3</sup> The Appellant asserts in his brief that "the State's witnesses were related to each other" suggesting their testimony was not reliable. Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 5.

show the possession of the weapon in close time and space proximity to the crime. This was appropriate and not an abuse of discretion in its admission. This evidence aids the fact-finder and presents a complete, whole and unfragmented story temporally related with the shooting.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Significantly, “[a] trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). Decisions to admit or exclude evidence rest in the sound discretion of the trial judge and will only be reversed on appeal for a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

Only evidence that is relevant should be admitted during trial. Rule 402, SCRE. “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears.” State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991); see Rule 401, SCRE (“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”). Evidence which could assist the jury in arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and should be admitted during trial. State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986).

### *Evidence of Bad Acts*

However, pursuant to Rule 404(a), SCRE, “[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is

not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.” “This is so because under our system of justice, a conviction must be based upon evidence of the offense for which the accused is on trial rather than upon prior criminal or immoral acts.” State v. Hough, 319 S.C. 104, 107, 459 S.E.2d 863, 865 (Ct. App. 1995). Evidence of a defendant’s prior crimes or bad acts is limited to establish motive, intent, and the absence of mistake or accident, the existence of a common scheme or plan, or the identity of the perpetrator. State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 251-252, 669 S.E.2d 598, 608 (Ct. App. 2008). See Rule 404(b), SCRE.

#### *Admissibility of Res Gestae Evidence*

Furthermore, evidence of a defendant’s prior crimes or bad acts may also properly be admitted if those acts form part of the res gestae of the charged offense. Anderson v. State, 354 S.C. 431; 435, 581 S.E.2d 834, 836 (2003). The res gestae theory recognizes that evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of a charged crime or may be necessary to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred. State v. Preslar, 364 S.C. 466, 473, 613 S.E.2d 381, 385 (Ct. App. 2005). To constitute part of the res gestae of an offense, it is important that the prior bad acts have a close temporal proximity to the charged crime. Martucci, 380 S.C. at 258, 669 S.E.2d at 612.

In State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366, 370-371 (1996), the Supreme Court explained the res gestae theory:

One of the accepted bases for the admissibility of evidence of other crimes arises when such evidence “furnishes part of the context of the crime” or is necessary to a “full presentation” of the case, or is so intimately connected with and explanatory of the crime charged against the defendant and is so much a part of the setting of the case and its “environment” that its proof is appropriate in order “to complete the story of the crime on trial by proving its immediate context or the ‘res gestae’ ” or the “uncharged offense is ‘so linked

together in point of time and circumstances with the crime charged that one cannot be fully shown without proving the other . . . [and is thus] part of the *res gestae* of the crime charged.” And where evidence is admissible to provide this “full presentation” of the offense, “[t]here is no reason to fragmentize the event under inquiry” by suppressing parts of the “*res gestae*.”

(citations omitted and alteration in original). Thus, where a prior bad act is “inextricably intertwined” with a charged offense, the evidence of the prior bad act is admissible as part of the *res gestae* of the crime. *Id.* at 122, 470 S.E.2d at 371. See United States v. Masters, 622 F.2d 83, 86 (4th Cir. 1980) (internal citations, some quotation marks, and footnotes omitted).

Nonetheless, evidence considered for admission under the *res gestae* theory must satisfy the requirements of Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. See Rule 403, SCRE (“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”). “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct.App.1998) (quotation marks and citations omitted). “All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be [scrutinized under Rule 403].” State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, at 529, 732 S.E.2d 225, at 229 (2012) (alteration and emphasis in original; quotation marks and citations omitted).

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides

the erroneously admitted evidence: State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006). Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989). Thus, when overwhelming evidence of guilt has been presented or when erroneously admitted evidence is merely cumulative to other properly admitted evidence, any trial error may be harmless. See State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) (“[I]n view of the overwhelming evidence of appellant's guilt, we hold any error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (“Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”).

## **HOW THE RES GESTAE ISSUE WAS RAISED**

### **A. Pre-trial**

During the pre-trial hearings, Appellant initially raised a motion to exclude evidence under Rule 404 and other bad acts. R. 5, Tr.p. 34. He asserted that the pertinent issue arose from an incident involving Quay Stevens and Tanisha Nelson. R. 6, Tr.p. 35. Appellant prior to the current incident, the appellant was alleged to have pulled a gun on one of the State's witnesses and he was separately charged in an incident report. The appellant requested that the evidence of the prior incident be excluded as evidence of a prior bad act.

The solicitor asserted that the challenged evidence arose from an argument between Quay Stevens and Tanisha Nelson. The State contended at some point McIlwain saw the boyfriend and girlfriend arguing and according to Stevens, the appellant approached him in foster him for

arguing and after some back-and-forth Quay Stevens stated “who’s going to stop me?” and McIlwain pulled a pistol out of his pocket, presented it, and said to Stevens “I’ll stop you”. R. 7-8, Tr.p. 36-37. The State contends that within minutes McIlwain shot and killed the victim in this case. “I certainly intend to offer testimony from Stevens the minutes before the victim in this case was shot and killed we alleged by McIlwain, that McIlwain had in his possession a pistol which matches a general description of what we found in later learn was in fact the murder weapon.” R. 8, Tr.p. 37. The solicitor declared that he thought it was certainly a bad act and it certainly occurred before the killing, “but I think more importantly is not a prior bad act under the rule nearly as much as its part of the raise just of the crime.” One of the elements of this offense is an allegation that he shot him with a pistol and “I intend to offer evidence of minutes before the shooting Quanell McIlwain was armed with a pistol, *res gestae*.” R. 8-9, Tr.p. 37-38. See also Tr.p. 161 (“I do intend to call Quay Stevens to say minutes before the shooting he saw him with a gun.”).

The defense asserted, relying upon State v. Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 470 S.E.2d 364 (1996), that before it can be presented to the jury, the state must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant committed this act, logically connect this to one of the five Lyle<sup>4</sup> reasons why it can come in and then show that its more probative than prejudicial. R. 9, Tr.p. 38, ll. 4-12.

The trial court held it in abeyance pending the presentation of the witness. R. 9, Tr.p. 38.

## **DURING TRIAL**

### **In Camera Hearing**

Prior to the testimony of Edrickis [“Qua” or “Quay”] Stevens, an *in camera* hearing was held related to the presentment of the gun issue. In establishing an understanding of the prosecution’s purpose of the testimony, Solicitor Barfield stated:

---

<sup>4</sup> State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923)

Mr. Stevens is the boyfriend of Tanisha Nelson. These are the two who were arguing outside before the shooting occurred. Mr. Stevens' expected to testify in a minute that after he argued with Ms. Nelson his girlfriend he and Mr. McIlwain had a confrontation at which point Mr. McIlwain pulled out a pistol and threatened him not directly pointing the pistol at him but simply threatened him while holding a pistol. And that is what is objectionable I believe. And again my argument we'll get into arguments later but my argument is **it's not really prior bad acts; it's part of the ongoing series of events that ended up in a shooting a short time later.**

R. 284-85, Tr.p. 353, l. 16- p. 354, l. 3.

Stevens testified *in camera* that he was with Tanisha Nelson on May 29, 2011 in Pardue. He stated that he and Tanisha initially had an argument inside her apartment. He stated that they went outside at some point she went outside and they were about to fight and she went off running and Stevens chased Tanisha and Appellant was chasing him until Stevens stopped running. R. 287, Tr.p. 356, ll. 10-20. Stevens stated that Appellant confronted him and told him that he could not sit there and watch Stevens jump on Steven's baby's mama when he had seen his own mother get jumped on and that he did not like it. R. 287-88, Tr.p. 356-57. Stevens stated that he responded to Appellant by stating "well who's going to stop me?" Stevens said that Appellant stated he would stop him now and appellant pulled out a chrome .357 gun. R. 288, Tr.p. 357, ll. 8-11. Stevens stated that Appellant never pointed it at him. Stevens stated he told appellant to go ahead and after appellant put it back, Stevens got in Tanisha's car and left.

R. 288-89, Tr.p. 357-358.

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